Veterinary Quarterly 2005; 27(3): 98-104

First results of chronic wasting disease (CWD) surveillance in the South-Eastern part of Belgium

S. Roels^{1,5}, C. Saegerman², H. De Bosschere¹, D. Berkvens³, F. Gregoire⁴, A. Hoyoux⁴, B. Mousset⁴, D. Desmecht⁴, E. Vanopdenbosch¹ and A. Linden⁴

¹National Reference Laboratory for Veterinary TSEs (Belgium and Luxembourg), Veterinary and Agrochemical Research Centre (CODA/CERVA), Department of Biocontrol, Section of Pathology, Brussels (Ukkel), Belgium.

²Department of Infectious and Parasitic Diseases, Epidemiology and Risk Analysis, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, University of Liège, Belgium.

³Department of Tropical Animal Health and Production, Epidemiology and Statistics, Institute of Tropical Medicine, Antwerp, Belgium.

⁴Department of Infectious and Parasitic Diseases, Bacteriology, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, University of Liège, Belgium.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Summary and keywords	99
Introduction	99
Materials and methods	100
Population	100
Sample sources and collection	100
	100
Bio-Rad laboratory's ELISA test	100
Immunohistochemistry (confirmation test)	101
Statistical analysis	101
Results	101
TSE detection using both ELISA and immunohistochemistry	101
Estimation of the true prevalence of CWD according to the Bayesian framework	101
Discussion	102
Abbreviations	102
References	103
⁵ Corresponding author Address: National Reference Laboratory for Veterinary TSEs (Belgium and Luxembourg), Veterinary and Agrochemical Research Centre (CODA/CERVA), Department of Bio	ocontro

Section of Pathology, Groeselenberg 99, B-1180 Brussels (Ukkel), Belgium.

E-mail: stroe@var.fgov.be

Tel:

Fax:

+32.2.379.05.47

+32.2.379.04.79

First results of chronic wasting disease (CWD) surveillance in the South-Eastern part of Belgium

S. Roels, C. Saegerman, H De Bosschere, D. Berkvens, F. Gregoire, A. Hoyoux, B. Mousset, D. Desmecht, E. Vanopdenbosch and A. Linden

SUMMARY

Chronic wasting disease (CWD) has not been reported in Europe, whereas it is considered to be enzootic in free-ranging mule deer, Rocky mountain elk and white-tailed deer in the area of Colorado, Wyoming, and Nebraska, and new foci of CWD have been detected in other parts of the United States. However, no large-scale active epidemiosurveillance of European wild cervids has been installed in Europe. In accordance with the opinion of the European Scientific Steering Committee, a preliminary (active) surveillance scheme was installed, in order to improve the knowledge of the CWD status of the Belgian free-ranging cervids (roe deer and red deer). Spleen samples (n=866) of roe deer and red deer collected in the south-eastern part of Belgium, were examined for CWD using a enzymelinked immunosorbent assay of Bio-Rad. Afterwards, the ELISA was systematically confirmed by immunohistochemistry using three antibodies, namely R524, 2G11 and 12F10. There were no indications on the occurrence of transmissible spongiform enncephalopathy (TSE) in any of the samples. A Bayesian framework was used for the estimation of the true prevalence of CWD in south-eastern part of Belgium that was estimated to have a median value of zero with a 95% percentile value of 0.00115.

Keywords: Bayesian approach; Belgium; Brain diseases; Cervids diseases; Chronic wasting disease; CWD; Deer diseases; Prion diseases; Transmissible spongiform encephalopathy; TSE; Surveillance.

INTRODUCTION

The animal transmissible spongiform encephalopathies (TSEs) include the archetype - scrapie in domestic sheep and goats - and animal diseases much more recently recognized, including transmissible mink encephalopathy (TME) and feline spongiform encephalopathy (FSE), chronic wasting disease (CWD) of deer and elk, and bovine spongiform encephalopathy (BSE). The potential zoonotic character has only been demonstrated for BSE with the discovery of a new variant of Creutzfeldt-Jakob disease (vCJD) in 1996 (5,13, 25).

Chronic wasting disease (CWD) has recently emerged in North America (NA) as an important prion disease of captive and free-ranging cervids (37). CWD is the only recognized transmissible spongiform encephalopathy (TSE) affecting free ranging-species. Three cervid species, mule deer (Odocoileus hemionus), white-tailed deer (Odocoileus virginianus), and Rocky Mountain elk (Cervus elaphus nelsoni), are the only known natural hosts of CWD. Endemic CWD is well established (1). Apparently CWD has also infected farmed cervids in several states, and has probably been endemic

in North America's farmed deer and elk for well over a decade. The precise time and place of most emerging diseases origins cannot be determined with certainty; CWD is no exception. It was recognized for the first time in a free-ranging elk in Colorado in 1981 (29) but surveillance data and epidemic modeling suggest that CWD may have been present in some of the deer populations in NA for at least twenty years earlier (17).

Detection of CWD in captive and free-ranging cervids is based on various combinations of clinical observation and laboratory diagnostics that form the foundation for established surveillance strategies. Clinical observation remains a common tool for detecting CWD in both captive and free-ranging cervids. The most striking and widely recognized clinical features of final-stage CWD in deer and elk are behavioural changes and loss of body condition (33,34). Because clinical signs are neither consistent nor diagnostic, CWD diagnosis must be confirmed by examination of the brain for spongiform lesions (33,34,36) and/or accumulation of Prp^{CWD} (Prp^{res}) in brain and lymphoid tissues by immunohistochemistry (IHC) (17,18,20,29).

As with other animal TSE's, the public health

implications of CWD overshadow more tangible implications for the health of important wildlife resources. Despite media innuendo to the contrary, no cases of human prion diseases have currently been associated with CWD. Nevertheless, the increasing spread in the USA of CWD has raised concerns about the potential for increasing human exposure to the CWD agent. Recently, the conversion of the human prion protein by CWDassociated prions has been demonstrated in an in vitro cell-free experiment (1). However, since the basis of the transmission barrier in relation to the TSE is complex (10,24), more epidemiologic and laboratory studies are necessary to monitor the possibility of such a transmission under natural conditions. Whether transmission of the CWD prion among cervids requires direct interaction with infected animals has been unclear. Miller and others (19) reported that it could be transmitted to susceptible animals indirectly, from environments contaminated by excreta or decomposed carcasses and this after more than 2 years.

There are no reports of CWD in areas outside NA with the exception of a single animal imported into Korea from Canada (27). Available information indicates that there is only negligible trade in live cervids originating in NA to Europe but there are indications of imports of small annual tonnage of edible products for game. Additionally, it is unclear what, if any, trade exists in antler, embryos or semen from cervids between NA and European countries (24). Currently, only a few European countries conduct surveillance programs on TSE in free-living or captive cervids. Given that the possible risks of exposure relate to the tissues of cervids from NA, reinforced protection of the cervid population and animal and public health in Europe could be considered. Moreover, systematic surveillance is essential to establish the probability of occurrence and incidence of CWD in the Cervidae populations of Europe (10,24). In Belgium, wild ruminants are not screened for TSEs as part of a specific TSE surveillance scheme. Until 2001, the year that the WHO declared Belgium rabies-free (4,38),ruminants were checked in the follow-up of the rabies surveillance scheme of animals found dead in the wild or in parks (3). This resulted in a number of 56 wild cervids tested and found negative for TSE since 1990. This number is rather small and due to the rabies-free status, Belgium has lost this sole mean of testing this

group of animals. Therefore, new means had to be found to have some kind of surveillance. In accordance with the opinion of the European Scientific Steering Committee and the European Food Safety Authority (EFSA), we have installed a preliminary surveillance scheme in order to estimate the true CWD prevalence of free-ranging cervids (Capreolus capreolus and Cervus elaphus) in the south-eastern part of Belgium.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Population

Wild deer are mainly found in the Walloon region, particularly in the south-eastern part of Belgium. In this region, the population size of wild deer increased two-fold during the last two decades (7). Three species of cervids are currently present in the Walloon region. The size of the populations was estimated around at 40,000 head of Capreolus capreolus (roe deer), around 10,000 head of Cervus elaphus (red deer) and around 200 head of Dama dama (fallow deer), with respectively more than 95%, around 75% and more than 95% of those living in the south-eastern part of Belgium. (7). The estimated number is more precise for Capreolus capreolus (indicative value of $\pm 10\%$) than for the other species (6).

Sample sources and collection

A total of 866 hunter-killed wild cervids (674 Cervus elaphus and 192 Capreolus capreolus) from different hunting areas in the south-eastern part of Belgium was included (Table 1). All animals were necropsied and sampled during the hunting seasons 2001 to 2003. The spleen fragments used for the study were dissected within 2-3 hours, and frozen within 8-10 hours after death.

Testing strategy

The enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) (Bio-Rad, France) as rapid TSE screening test and the immunohistochemistry (IHC) as confirmation test were applied on each spleen sample.

Bio-Rad laboratory's ELISA test

The Bio-Rad TSE ELISA was used for purification and detection of PrP^{CWD}. A detailed assay procedure has been described in the instruction manual sent with the purification and detection kits. A brief description of the procedure of purification and detection is described by Hibler

Year	Red deer						Roe deer								
	Juvenile		Subadult		Adult			Juvenile		Adult					
	ð	9	∂	Ş	ਂ ਹੈ	Ş	Subtotal	₫′	ĝ	n.đ.	ੋ	♀	n.d.	Subtotal	Total
2001	28	49	7	1,0	17	56	167	6	3	1	17	22	0	49	216
2002	76	68	14	21	25	88	292	11	16	0	17	14	0	58	350
2003	58	32	13	26	29	57	215	12	8	1	29	34	1	85	300
Total	162	149	34	57	71	201	674	29	27	2	63	70	1	192	866

Table 1. Composition of the wild deer sampling in the south-eastern part of Belgium according to the CWD surveillance. All animals were sampled during hunting seasons (October-December). Juvenile: <1 year. Subadult: 1-2 year (only red deer). Adult: >2 years for red deer and >1 year for road deer, n.d.: not determined.

and others (12).

The principle of the test is based on the selective degradation of normal membrane-bound prion protein (PrPsen) (16) by proteinase K (PK) treatment. The PK digestion step and centrifugation ensure selectivity of the test because PrP^{CWD} is resistant to proteolysis and co purifies with infectivity. The sample treatment procedures concentrate PrP^{CWD}, increase the sensitivity of the test. Measurements are made using the conventional 2-site sandwich ELISA because it provides more sensitive, more specific, and more rapid measurements than others assay formats. Monoclonal antibodies directed against PrP, by immunizing mice, are used for the detection of PrP^{CWD} (12)

Immunohistochemistry (confirmation test)

The technique used is described by Van Keulen and others (31) but using both a polyclonal (R524 - CIDC - The Netherlands) and 2 monoclonal antibodies, the 2G11 (Institut Pourquier - France) and the 12F10 (Spi-bio - France). As a positive control for IHC we used brainstem and lymphoid tissues of a Canadian CWD case.

Statistical analysis

The true CWD prevalence was estimated in a Bayesian framework, using WinBUGS 1.4. (28).

RESULTS

TSE detection using both ELISA and IHC

All samples were TSE negative using the ELISA (Bio-Rad) test and this was confirmed using IHC (with all 3 antibodies). The positive control used for IHC stained positive in both brainstem and in the lymphoid tissue for all antibodies, with a similar distribution pattern.

Estimation of the true prevalence of CWD according to the Bayesian framework

Choice of the prior information

The sensitivity and the specificity of the surveillance by the ELISA test and confirmation by the IHC test were estimated from data collected from the literature. IHC is still considered by most experts in the CWD field to be the "gold standard" (8,11, 14,22). It allows precise anatomical considerations of PrP^{CWD} deposition (8). However, a study, by Spraker and others (30) on 26 naturally infected mule deer in terminal stages of CWD (16 freeranging and 10 captive) showed that there was only PrPCWD detection in the spleen by IHC with in 53% of the free-ranging deer and 44% of the captive deer. We selected a Beta (alpha=12, beta=12) distribution (2.5th-percentile = 0.31; median = 0.50; 97.5th-percentile = 0.69) as prior information for the sensitivity of the IHC. Further, IHC is considered not to produce any false positive reactions (11). Consequently, the specificity of the IHC was fixed at 1. Comparing ELISA with IHC showed that ELISA was highly accurate: all animals with positive ELISA results were confirmed by IHC (24). The relative sensibility of ELISA depends on the species and tissue type and ranges from 0.92 to 1 (12). We selected a uniform (0.90-1) distribution as prior information. The relative specificity of the ELISA depends on the species and was 0.999-1 (12), so we selected a uniform (0.999-1) distribution as prior information. Considering the age of the cervids, the animals less than 12 months of age were diagnosed with pre-clinical infection by IHC (14). The youngest elk diagnosed with clinical CWD was 17 months old (2,24,35). For this reason we did not consider the influence of the age in the estimation of the prevalence of the CWD in cervids.

Estimation of the true prevalence

Because of the high agreement between the ELISA test and the IHC test (12), it was assumed that results of the two diagnostic tests, which were used in this study, are dependant conditionally on the infection status of the tested animals. Based on a Bayesian approach and using the above prior information, the true prevalence of CWD in southeastern part of Belgium was estimated to have a median value of zero with a 95% percentile value of 1.15 10⁻³.

DISCUSSION

The animal TSEs can be divided into two groups based on epidemiology and pathogenesis. The first group includes scrapic and CWD. Both of these diseases are characterized by the occurrence of lateral transmission, the ability to sustain the disease in populations, and widespread involvement of the lymphoid system early in the course of incubation. This first localisation of the CWD PrPres reflects the initial oral pathway of CWD infection in cervids (26,37). The second group includes TME, BSE, and associated spongiform encephalopathies in felids and exotic ruminants infected with the BSE agent. In these diseases, epidemics are clearly related to ingestion of the agent in contaminated feedstuffs and host populations do not sustain epidemics. Involvement of lymphoid tissues appears to be limited or absent in this second group of animal TSEs (32).

In CWD-affected animals, infectivity is probably related to the highest prion concentrations in portions of the brain, spinal cord, spleen and lymph nodes (37). The relative levels of infectivity in these tissues are currently not available (2). The reliability of the spleen as a target tissue for detecting PrPCWD by IHC in captive and freeranging mule deer with clinical CWD was previously described (30). Additionally, the spleen also offers a more practical advantage. In fact, it is easier to convince hunters to give it up for scientific research than asking them for the head in order to sample the brain, as in most cases the heads of deer are a hunting trophy. The use of the ELISA technique, validated for brain tissue, on spleen tissue proved to be reliable for detecting TSE in sheep (9).

Currently, as there are no tests validated by the EU in order to evaluate TSE in European cervids, EFSA suggests that the techniques validated by the

Food and Drug Administration can also be used but that they need to be confirmed by IHC (10).

Today, only a few European countries conduct surveillance programs on TSE in free-living and/or captive cervids and only a few experimental research studies are conducted to obtain data on the susceptibility of European cervids to TSE (10). Recently, German researchers (23) screened 849 free-ranging ruminants from Bavaria, including mainly roe deer and red deer. All samples were negative. In this region, the prevalence of the TSE was estimated to be below 0.5% for roe deer and below 1.5% for red deer with a 95% confidence. Additionally, preliminary CWD surveillance was performed in 136 Sika deer (Cervus nippon) in Japan (15) and all samples were also negative.

In addition, a retrospective epidemiological study of neurologically expressed disorders (NED) in ruminants in Belgium revealed that the positive predictive value of presumptive clinical diagnosis versus necropsy of NED in wild ruminants was low (13%) and can probably be explained by the low level of clinical observation and scarce anamnesis for wildlife (21). In this study, the percentage of NED cases where no etiological cause could be established for this same group of animals was high (77%). This finding suggests the necessity to install and maintain a active epidemiosurveillance network in wild cervids.

For the moment, we have only investigated samples originating from the south-eastern part of Belgium and the true prevalence of CWD in this region, estimated in a Bayesian framework, was found to have a median value of 0% with a 95% percentile value of 0.115%. This represents an improvement of our knowledge of the CWD status in wild cervids in the south-eastern part of Belgium. The data obtained are suitable for this part of Belgium but whether they are representative for the whole of Belgium remains unknown.

There are different reasons for maintaining, extending and improving this first CWD surveillance of the cervids population in Belgium: (1) more roe deer in the south-eastern part of Belgium should be sampled in relation to the population size, (2) currently, no wild roe deer samples (estimated number of 19,500 head) and no farmed cervids samples (estimated number of 13,000 head which are artificially fed during their live) from the northern part of Belgium were tested, (3) in

Belgium, as in many European countries, wild cervids are also artificially fed during the winter which results in frequent gatherings of the animals in these feeding areas. This management practice along with the known horizontal transmission of the CWD prion could dramatically favor the spread of CWD once the first cases develop, and ⁽⁴⁾according to the early detection, the lymphoid tissues that drain the oral and intestinal mucosa are also possible samples for future investigations.

ABBREVIATIONS

BSE: Bovine spongiform encephalopathy

CWD: Chronic wasting disease

EFSA: European Food Safety Authority

ELISA: Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay

FSE: Feline spongiform encephalopathy

IHC: Immunohistochemistry

NED: Neurologically expressed disorders

PK: Proteinase K

PrP: Prion protein

TME: Transmissible mink encephalopathy

TSE: Transmissible spongiform encephalopathy

vCJD: Variant of Creutzfeldt-Jakob disease

REFERENCES

- Belay ED, Maddox RA, Williams ES, Miller MW, Gambetti P and Schonberger LB. Chronic wasting disease and potential transmission to humans. Emerging Infectious Diseases 2004; 10: 977-984.
- Bourne DC, Chronic wasting disease review. Wildlife Information Network, October 2004, for SEAC, United Kingdom, p.66. Available at: www.seac.gov.uk/papers/cwdiseaseannex1.pdf Accessed 20th August 2005.
- Brochier B, Vanopdenbosch E, Coppens P, Thoonen H, Costy F, Coignoul F, Lavaeyse D and Pastoret PP. System for epidemiological surveillance of spongiform encephalopathies: first results. Annales de Médicine Vétérinaire 1992; 136: 245-247 (in French with an abstract in English).
- 4. Brochier B, Deschamps P, Costy F, Hallet L, Leuris J, Villers M, Péharpré D, Mosselmans F, Beier R, Lecomte L, Mullier P, Roland H, Bauduin B, Kervyn T, Renders C, Escutenaire S and Pastoret PP. Elimination of sylvatic rabies in Belgium by oral vaccination of the red fox (Vilpes vulpes). Annales de Médicine Vétérinaire 2001; 145; 293-305 (in French with an abstract in English).
- 5. Bruce ME, Will RG, Ironside JW, McConnell I, Drummond D, Suttie A, McCardle L, Chree A, Hope J, Birkett C, Cousens S, Fraser H and Bostock CI. Transmissions to mice indicate that "new variant" CJD is caused by the BSE agent. Nature 1997; 389: 498-501.
- 6. Cellule Etat de l'Environnement Wallon. Tableau de bord

- de l'environnement wallon 2000, Ed. MRW DGRNE,
- Cellule Etat de l'Environnement Wallon. Tableau de bord de l'environnement wallon 2004. Ed. MRW - DGRNE, 160.
- Creekmore L. CWD Presentative measures and existing regulations. TSE in animal populations - Fact and Fiction 1. September 10-11, 2003, Fort Collins, Colorado, USA.
- De Bosschere H, Roels S and Vanopdenbosch E. ELISA testing of brain and spleen homogenates for tranmissible spongiform encephalopathy / scrapie in sheep. Animal Research 2005; 54: 289-295.
- European Food Safety Agency Journal. Opinion on a surveillance programme for chronic wasting disease in the European Union. The EFSA journal 2004; 70: 1-7.
 Available at: www.efsa.eu.int Accessed 20thth August 2005.
- Hall SM. Transmissible spongiform encephalopathy diagnostics. Animal prion diseases and the Americas. Ames. Iowa, USA, 14-16 October, 2004.
- 12. Hibler CP, Wilson KL, Spraker TR, Miller MW, Zink RR., DeBuse LL, Andersen E, Schweitzer D, Kennedy JA., Baeten LA, Smeltzer JF, Salman MD and Powers BE. Field validation and assessment of an enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay for detecting chronic wasting disease in mule deer (Odocoileus hemionus), white-tailed deer (Odocoileus virginianus), and Rocky Mountain elk (Cervus elaphus nelsoni). Journal of Veterinary Diagnostic Investigations 2003; 15: 311-319.
- Hill AF, Desbrusbais M, Joiner S, Sidle KCL, Gowland I, Collinge L, Doey LJ and Lantos P. The same prion strain causes (CID and BSE, Nature 1997; 389: 448-450.
- Kahn S, Dube C, Bates L and Balachandran A. Chronic wasting disease in Canada: Part 1. Canadian Veterinary Journal 2004; 45: 397-404.
- Kataoka N, Nishimura M, Horiuchi M and Ishiguro N. Surveillance of chronic wasting disease in Sika Deer, Cervus nippon, from Tokachi district in Hokkaido. Journal of Veterinary Medical Science 2005; 67: 349-351.
- Marella M, Lehmanns S, Grassi J and Chabry J. Filipin prevents pathological prion accumulation by reducing endocytosis and including cellular PrP release. Journal of Biological Chemistry 2002; 277: 25457-25464.
- Miller MW, Williams ES, McCarty CW, Spraker TR, Kreeger TJ, Larsen CT and Thorne ET. Epizootiology of chronic wasting disease in free-ranging cervids in Colorado and Wyoming. Journal of Wildlife Diseases 2000; 36: 676-690.
- Miller MW and Williams ES. Detecting Prp^{CWD} in mule deer by immuonohistochemistry of lymphoid tissues. Veterinary Record 2002; 151: 610-612.
- Miller MW, Williams ES, Thompson N, Hobbs NT and Wolfe LL. Environmental sources of prion transmission in mule deer. Emerging Infectious Diseases 2004; 10: 1003-1006.
- Peters J, Miller JM, Jenny AL, Peterson TL and Carmichael KP. Immunohistochemical diagnosis of chronic wasting disease in preclinically affected elk from a captive herd. Journal of Veterinary Diagnostic Investigations 2000; 12: 579-582.
- 21. Saegerman C, Berkvens D, Claes L, Dewaele A, Coignoul F, Ducatelle R, Cassart D, Brochier B, Costy F, Roels S, Deluyker H, Vanopdenbosch E and Thiry E. Population-level retrospective study of neurologically

- expressed disorders in ruminants before the onset of bovine spongiform encephalopathy (BSE) in Belgium, a geographic BSE risk III country. Journal of Clinical Microbiology 2005; 43: 862-869.
- 22. Samuel MD, Joly DO, Wild MA, Wright SD, Otis DL, Werge RW and Miller MW. Surveillance strategies for detecting chronic wasting disease in free-ranging deer and elk. Results of a CWD surveillance Workshop, Madison, Wisconsin, December 10-12, 2002. Report published 1 May 2003, USGS-National Wildlife Health Center, Madison, Wisconsin, USA. Available at: www.nwhc.usgs.gov/research/chronic_wasting_disease/CWD_Surveillance_Strategies.pdf Accessed 20th August 2005.
- 23. Schwaiger K, Stierstorfer B, Schmahl W and Bauer J. Survey on transmissible spongiform encephalopathies in roe deer (Capreolus capreolus), Red Deer (Cervus elaphus) and Chamois (Rupicapra rupicapra) in Bavaria. Berliner und Münchener Tierärtztliche Wochenschrift 2004; 117: 24-29.
- 24. Scientific Steering Committee (EC). Opinion on chronic wasting disease and tissues that might carry a risk for human and animal feed chains 2003. Available at: http://europa.eu.int/comm/food/fs/bse/scientific advice15_en.html Accessed 20th August 2005.
- 25. Scott MR, Will R, Ironside J, Nguyen H-OB, Tremblay P, Dearmond SJ and Prusiner S. Compelling transgenetic evidence for transmission of bovine spongiform encephalopathy prions to humans. Proceedings of the National Academic of Sciences of the United States of America 1999; 96: 15137-15142.
- 26. Sigurdson CJ, Williams ES, Miller MW, Spraker TR, O'Rourke KI and Hoover EA. Oral transmission and early lymphoid tropism of chronic wasting disease PrP^{res} in mule deer fawns (Odocoileus hemionus). Journal of General Virology 1999; 80: 2757-2764.
- 27. Sohn HJ, Kim JH, Choi KS, Nah JJ, Joo YS, Jean YH, Ahn SW, Kim OK, Kim DY and Balachandran A. A case of chronic wasting disease in an elk imported to Korea from Canada. Journal of Veterinary Medical Science 2002: 64: 855-858.
- Spiegelhalter DJ, Thomas A, Best NG, Lunn D. "WinBUGS Version 1.4. Users Manual" 2003. MRC

- Biostatistics Unit, Cambridge. URL: www.mrc-bsu.cam.ac.uk/buzs/
- 29. Spraker TR, Miller MW, Williams ES, Getzy DM, Adrian WJ, Schoonveld GG, Spowart RA, O'Rourke KI, Miller IM and Merz PA. Spongiform encephalopathy in free-ranging mule deer (Odocoileus hemionus), white-tailed deer (Odocoileus virginianus), and Rocky Mountain elk (Cervus elaphus nelsoni) in north-central Colorado. Journal of Wildlife Diseases 1997; 33: 1-6.
- 30. Spraker TR, Balachandran A, Zhuang D and O'Rourke KI. Variable patterns distribution of PrP^{CWD} in the obex and cranial lymphoid tissues of Rocky mountain elk (Cervus elaphus nelsoni) with subclinical chronic wasting disease. Veterinary Record 2004; 155: 295-302.
- Van Keulen LJM, Schreuder BEC, Meloen RH. Mooijharkes G, Poelen-Van den Berg M, Vromans MEW and Langeveld J. Immunohistochemical detection and localization of prion protein in brain tissue of sheep with natural scrapie. Veterinary Pathology 1995; 34: 1228-1231.
- 32. Williams ES. Scraple and chronic wasting disease. Clinical Laboratory Medicine 2003; 23: 139-159.
- Williams ES and Young S. Chronic wasting disease of captive mule deer: a spongiform encephalopathy. Journal of Wildlife Diseases 1980; 16: 89-98.
- Williams ES and Young S. Spongiform encephalopathy of Rocky Mountain elk. Journal of Wildlife Diseases 1982; 18: 465-471.
- Williams ES and Young S. Spongiform encephalopa-thies in Cervidae. Revue Scientifique et Technique de l'Office International des Épizooties 1992; 11: 551-567.
- Williams ES and Young S. Neuropathology of chronic wasting disease of mule deer (Odocoileus hemionus) and elk (Cervus elaphus nelsoni). Veterinary Pathology 1993; 30: 36-45.
- Williams ES and Miller MW. Transmissible spongiform encephalopathies in non-domestic animals: origin, transmission and risk factors. Revue Scientifique et Technique de l'Office International des Épizooties 2003; 22: 145-156.
- World Health Organization. Rabies surveillance report.
 Center for Rabies Surveillance and Research. Rabies
 Bulletin Europe 2001; 3: 4-8.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The authors wish to acknowledge Dr A. Balachandran (Canadian Food Inspection Agency) for providing us with positive control material, Danny De Becker and Jean- Marc Bilheude (Bio-Rad) for their help in implementing the ELISA on spleens and providing the kits, Dr Marina Naccarato (Federal Agency for the Safety of the Food Chain) for the mapping and finally the hunters for providing us with the tissue samples of the wild cervids. The Health Surveillance Network of Wild Mammals in Wallonia is supported by funds from the Minister of Agriculture - Region of Wallonia - Belgium. Finally, we wish to thank Geoffrey Taminiau and Stéphanie Durand (CODA/CERVA) for their excellent technical assistance.